
 

 
 

 
 

 
Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 

Regular Meeting 
November 17, 2010, 8:30 a.m. 

CRRA Trash Museum, 211 Murphy Road, Hartford 
 

Agenda 
 
1. Call to order – Chairman Ryan Bingham 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Roll call 
4. Approval of minutes  

a. August 25, 2010, meeting (See Section 1 of agenda package) 
b. September  28, 2010, special meeting (See Section 2 of agenda package) 

5. Update on activities of Mid-Connecticut Project Special Committee (See Section 3 of agenda 
package) 
a. Resolution to Establish a Committee on Governance Under Article VIII of the By-Laws (See 

Section 4 of agenda package) 
 “Article VIII – Committees. The Municipal Advisory Committee may establish committees of 

members as the need arises. Such committees may be established either by a majority of 
members participating at a meeting or by order of the Chairman. The Chairman shall designate 
the chairman of each committee. Such committees will serve for the amount of time designated 
in the action establishing said committees.” 

6. Discussion and possible action on product-stewardship initiative for mattresses (See Section 5 of 
agenda package) 

7. Election of officers for 2011 (as specified in Article VI of the By-Laws) 
a. “Section 6.1 – Officers of the Municipal Advisory Committee. The Officers of the Municipal 

Advisory Committee shall be the Chairman and a Vice-Chairman who shall be elected by a 
majority of members prior to the start of each calendar year.  

b. “Section 6.2 – Term. The term of officers shall be one calendar year, except that the first term 
shall be for the remainder of the calendar year in which these bylaws are adopted. Officers may 
serve more than one term.” 

8. Mid-Connecticut Project update – CRRA management 
a. Operational and financial performance (See Sections 6 through 9 of agenda package) 
b. President’s report 

i. Legislative/legal report 
ii. Status of draft renewal Municipal Service Agreements 

9. Selection of meeting dates for 2011 (See Section 10 of the agenda package) 
10. Comments and questions from Municipal Advisory Committee members 
11. Public comment 

Members of the public wishing to address the Municipal Advisory Committee may speak for up to 
three minutes. 

12. Adjournment 



 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 
The Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Council (MAC) held its eighth meeting on 
Wednesday, August 25, 2010, at the Trash Museum in Hartford, Connecticut. 
 

PARTICIPATING MUNICIPALITIES AND THEIR REPRESENTATIVES: 
 
Town First Name Last Name Title/Proxy 
Avon Richard Barlow Proxy for Town Manager Brandon Robertson 
Barkhamsted Donald Stein First Selectman 
Bloomfield Sydney Schulman Mayor (arrived at 8:55 a.m.) 
Canton  Richard Barlow First Selectman 
Coventry  John Elsesser Town Manager 
East Granby James Hayden First Selectman 
East Hartford Melody Currey Mayor  
Farmington Richard Barlow Proxy for Town Manager Kathleen Eagen 
Glastonbury Michael Bisi Proxy for Town Manager Richard Johnson 
Granby John Adams First Selectman 
Goshen Donald Stein Proxy for First Selectman Robert Valentine 
Harwinton Frank Chiaramonte First Selectman 
Hebron Bonnie Therrien Town Manager 
Litchfield Donald Stein Proxy for First Selectman Leo Paul 
Manchester  Brooks Parker Environmental Services Manager / Proxy for Town Manager 

Scott Shanley 
Naugatuck  Sheila Baummer Proxy for Mayor Robert Mezzo 
Newington  John Salomone Town Manager 
Norfolk  Susan Dyer First Selectman  
Old Lyme Timothy Griswold First Selectman (Arrived at 8:45 a.m.) 
Old Saybrook Timothy  Griswold Proxy for First Selectman Michael Pace 
Waterbury Timothy  Griswold Proxy for Mayor Michael Jarjura 
Windsor Locks  Steven Wawruck First Selectman, VICE CHAIRMAN 
 
CRRA MANAGEMENT ATTENDEES: 
Thomas D. Kirk, President 
Marianne Carcio, Executive Assistant 
Peter W. Egan, Director of Environmental Affairs & Development / Acting Director of Operations 
Paul Nonnenmacher, Director of Public Affairs 
Ronald Gingerich, Manager of Development, Environmental Compliance & Information Technology  
Michael R. Bzdyra, Government Affairs Liaison 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC: 
Jonathan Bilmes, Bristol Resource Recovery Facility Operating Committee 
Larrye deBear, Rocky Hill Town Council 
John Pizzimenti, USA Hauling & Recycling 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Municipal Advisory Committee Chairman Ryan Bingham called the meeting to order at 8:41 a.m.  
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of August 25, 2010 
Page 2 of 5 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
All in attendance rose and recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
Upon request of Chairman Bingham, Mr. Nonnenmacher called the roll and reported that, including 
proxies, 17 votes were represented at the meeting, meaning there was no quorum. 
 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF MARCH 3, 2010, MEETING  
 
Chairman Bingham requested clarifications to the minutes. None were offered. 
 
5. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
Mr. Bzdyra discussed Senate Bill 394, which, in CRRA’s view, would require private entities as well as 
CRRA to obtain a certificate of need before applying to the Department of Environmental Protection for 
permits to site and develop a solid waste facility. He also discussed cuts to state bonding and warned 
CRRA may get much less than the $10 million it has been promised to cover part of the costs of closing 
the Hartford landfill may be reduced. He also summarized House Bill 5124, a wide-ranging solid waste 
and recycling bill that would, among other things, increase reporting requirements for private haulers. 
 
Mr. Adams asked CRRA to provide the text of a letter Mid-Connecticut Project CEOs could send to 
state officials. 
 
Mr. Nonnenmacher said regulations to implement the electronics recycling legislation were finalized 
yesterday. Mr. Egan explained the system established in those regulations and the list of items that must 
be collected for recycling under the system. 
 
Ms. Baummer asked whether the price CRRA pays for its electronics recycling covers all electronic 
devices. Mr. Bzdyra said it does. 
 
Mr. Wawruck asked whether covered and non-covered electronic devices will have to be segregated at 
collection points. Mr. Parker said some contractors will do that. 
 
Mr. Griswold asked whether CRRA’s system of centralized electronics recycling collections would 
continue. Mr. Egan and Ms. Bergenty said it will. 
 
6. UPDATE ON ACTIVITIES OF MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT SPECIAL  COMMITTEE 
 
Mr. Nonnenmacher discussed the process and timetable for the Special Committee’s work. Under 
Section 22a-268(f) of the Connecticut General Statutes, the Committee must report on future waste 
disposal options for Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns by November 15, 2010. 
 
7. MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT UPDATE – CRRA MANAGEMENT  
  

A. UPDATE ON EXPANSION OF PLASTICS RECYCLING  
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of August 25, 2010 
Page 3 of 5 
 
Mr. Nonnenmacher explained CRRA has begun accepting accepting additional types of plastic for 
recycling and that CRRA has brochures and flyers that towns can customize and use to educate their 
residents about the changes. 

 
B. OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
 

i. MSW DELIVERIES AND TRENDS   
  ii.. RECYCLABLES DELIVERIES AND TRENDS  
  iii. PLANT OPERATIONAL SUMMARIES  

 
Mr. Gingerich directed members’ attention to detailed reports in the agenda package for all three items. 
In particular, he noted that trash deliveries in April 2010 were 3 percent greater than in April 2009, that 
deliveries of recyclables are up 3 percent year-to-date and the trash-to-energy plant recorded its highest 
unit-capacity factor of the year. President Kirk said the turnaround in performance is evidence that 
CRRA’s capital investments in the facility are paying off. 
 

iv. TRASH MUSEUM REPORT  
 
Mr. Nonnenmacher directed members’ attention to reports in the agenda package for this item. He also 
pointed out that the Trash Museum is seeking volunteers to help with its education programs. 
 

C. FINANCIAL AND VARIANCE REPORT 
 
President Kirk directed members’ attention to financial reports contained in the agenda package. He 
said management is predicting a modest surplus of $2.5 million for Fiscal Year 2010. 
 

D. LEGAL UPDATE 
 

i. MDC-RELATED ISSUES 
 
President Kirk updated committee members on arbitration with the Metropolitan District (MDC), 
which centers around MDC’s claim that CRRA is responsible for $32 million in post-contract pension 
and benefits liabilities for MDC employees who have worked at the waste processing facility (WPF) 
under MDC’s contract to operate the WPF. He said if CRRA is found responsible for those costs, 
management’s intent is to pay them in future years. Ms. McMullen asked whether those costs would be 
passed to MDC towns if MDC is found to be responsible, and President Kirk said they would. 
 
Mr. Schulman asked whether either party had asked for an expedited ruling. He said it troubles him that 
December 2011 (when MDC’s contract with CRRA expires) is rapidly approaching and, based on his 
experience with complex litigation, the arbitration process will not be completed before the MDC-
CRRA contract expires. He said the claim could be a substantial cost to the towns and the sooner it is 
resolved, the less impact it will have on the towns. He said he has the same comments and questions for 
MDC. 
 
Mr. Salomone said the dispute has been a horrendous situation for towns that are served by both MDC 
and CRRA. President Kirk said management is aware of the costs, but cannot accept the $32 million 
claim because of the costs to the 70 Mid-Connecticut Project towns. 
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of August 25, 2010 
Page 4 of 5 
 
Mr. Adams asked whether the issue is the amount of the liability or the liability itself. President Kirk 
said the amount will be an issue, but less of an issue than the liability. 
 
Mr. Griswold asked whether the amount of MDC’s claim had grown radically over time. President 
Kirk responded that the claim was originally $7 million, but grew in increments to its present $32 
million, and the claim is not something CRRA can try to seek from the towns at this time. 
 
Ms. McMullen asked whether CRRA had a plan for the possibility that it would be found liable for the 
claim. President Kirk said CRRA would add 50 cents or $1 or $2 to disposal fees under the next 
municipal service agreements (MSAs) to cover those costs. She asked whether CRRA could sell bonds 
to finance the claim. Mr. Bolduc responded that because CRRA has no taxing power, it could not get 
such financing in the bond market.   
 

ii. ONE / CHANE LITIGATION 
 
President Kirk reviewed the history of this suit. He said a judge tried to mediate the dispute but failed 
and trial is scheduled to start June 6. 
 
Mr. Schulman asked for a copy of the judge’s ruling on CRRA’s motion for summary judgment. 
President Kirk said he would provide it. 
 
8. COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS FROM MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE       
  MEMBERS  
 
Mr. Adams when management would calculate the impact on future disposal fees should CRRA get no 
bond money for the Hartford landfill closure. President Kirk said the calculation would be made when 
CRRA receives a final decision on bond funds. 
 
Mr. Wawruck asked whether the current disposal fee is based on CRRA’s receiving the full $10 
million remaining in the Legislature’s commitment. President Kirk said it is. Mr. Wawruck asked how 
not receiving the $10 million would impact the disposal fee. President Kirk said getting $5 million less 
would result in about $6 being added to the disposal fee, but management is confident CRRA can absorb 
a $5 million reduction. The Committee engaged in a substantial discussion about contacting legislators 
to support the funding. 
 
Mr. Stein asked about CRRA’s deadline for accepting comments on the draft Tier 1 MSA. President 
Kirk said CRRA is still accepting comments and will hold a series of informational workshops on the 
MSA. He noted many towns have commented on flow control-related language in the MSA and 
explained CRRA is simply asking towns to adopt a flow-control ordinance and CRRA will provide 
enforcement as it has traditionally. He said that will be made clearer in the next draft of the MSA. 
 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
No member of the public spoke. 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 

 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of August 25, 2010 
Page 5 of 5 
 
Chairman Bingham declared there were no further items on the agenda, and the meeting was adjourned 
at 9:50 a.m. 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
       
 

Paul Nonnenmacher 
Director of Public Affairs 

 
 
 



 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 2 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

 
The Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Council (MAC) held a special telephonic meeting on  
September 28, 2010, at Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority headquarters, 100 Constitution 
Plaza, Hartford, Connecticut. 
 

PARTICIPATING MUNICIPALITIES AND THEIR REPRESENTATIVES: 
 
Town First Name Last Name Title/Proxy 
Barkhamsted Donald Stein First Selectman (on telephone) 
Bolton Joyce Stille Administrative Officer (on telephone) 
Canton  Richard Barlow First Selectman (on telephone) 
Chester Timothy Griswold (on telephone) Proxy for First Selectman Thomas Marsh  
Clinton Timothy Griswold (on telephone) Proxy for First Selectman William Fritz 
Deep River Timothy Griswold (on telephone) Proxy for First Selectman Richard Smith 
Durham Laura Francis First Selectman (on telephone) 
East Granby James Hayden First Selectman (on telephone) 
East Hartford Melody Currey Mayor (on telephone) 
Glastonbury Michael Bisi Proxy for Town Manager Richard Johnson 
Granby John Adams First Selectman (on telephone) 
Goshen Robert Valentine First Selectman (on telephone) 
Harwinton Frank Chiaramonte First Selectman (on telephone) 
Hebron Joyce Stille (on telephone) Proxy for Town Manager Bonnie Therrien 
Naugatuck  Sheila Baummer (on telephone) Proxy for Mayor Robert Mezzo  
Newington  John Salomone Town Manager 
Norfolk  Susan Dyer First Selectman (on telephone) 
Old Lyme Timothy Griswold First Selectman (on telephone) 
Old Saybrook Michael Pace First Selectman (on telephone) 
Rocky Hill Barbara Gilbert Town Manager (on telephone) 
Roxbury Barbara Henry First Selectman (on telephone) 
Waterbury Timothy  Griswold (on telephone) Proxy for Mayor Michael Jarjura 
Westbrook Timothy Griswold (on telephone) Proxy for First Selectman Noel Bishop 
Wethersfield Jeff Bridges Town Manager 
 
CRRA MANAGEMENT ATTENDEES: 
Thomas D. Kirk, President, Ex-Officio Member 
Paul Nonnenmacher, Director of Public Affairs, CRRA Liaison 
 
NON-VOTING MUNICIPAL REPRESENTATIVES PRESENT: 
Julian Freund, Manchester 
Wayne Watt, Oxford (on telephone) 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC PRESENT: 
Larrye deBear, Rocky Hill Town Council (on telephone) 
John Pizzimenti, USA Hauling & Recycling 

 
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of September 28, 2010 
Page 2 of 5 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
With neither Chairman Ryan Bingham nor Vice Chairman Steven Wawruck in attendance, the 
Committee designated John Salomone acting chairman by unanimous consent. He called the meeting to 
order at 1:03 p.m.  
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mr. Salomone dispensed with the reciting of the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
Upon request of Mr. Salomone, Mr. Nonnenmacher called the roll and reported that, including 
proxies, 24 votes were represented at the meeting. Mr. Salomone declared a quorum was present. 
 
4. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE RATIFICATION OF REVISED TIMETABLE FOR       
  MUNICIPAL ACTION ON TIER 1 MUNICIPAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 
 
Mr. Bridges moved adoption of the following resolution. Ms. Gilbert seconded the motion. 
 

RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE TIMETABLE FOR MUNICIPAL ACTION ON TIER 1 
MUNICIPAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the existing Municipal Service Agreements (MSAs) between Mid-Connecticut Project 
cities and towns will expire in 2012 and  
 
WHEREAS, the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority (CRRA) is offering those cities and towns 
a successor to those MSAs known as the Tier 1 Municipal Service Agreements and  
 
WHEREAS, CRRA will soon enter negotiations with contractors interested in operating and 
maintaining the Mid-Connecticut trash-to-energy facility and  
 
WHEREAS, CRRA will soon enter negotiations for the sale of power generated at said facility and 
 
WHEREAS, CRRA has declared it can negotiate the best terms for said contracts if it has commitments 
for deliveries of municipal solid waste equal or close to the facility’s capacity and 
 
WHEREAS, terms of said contracts will impact the disposal fee paid by cities and towns to CRRA 
under new MSAs and 
 
WHEREAS, in recognition of these facts CRRA had asked cities and towns to decide whether to sign a 
Tier 1 MSA by January 1, 2011, and  
 
WHEREAS, leaders of several of those communities expressed concern that the January 1, 2011, 
deadline would not accommodate the needs of their own due diligence and local legislative processes 
and 
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of September 28, 2010 
Page 3 of 5 
 
WHEREAS, a group of municipal officials met with CRRA management and agreed on a new deadline 
of July 1, 2011, subject to the concurrence of the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory 
Committee, now  
 
BE IT RESOLVED that the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee accepts, concurs 
with and ratifies the deadline of July 1, 2011, for cities and towns to act on the Tier 1 MSA and 
congratulates those involved in resolving these differences through discussion and negotiation. 
 
Mr. Kirk explained that the proposed resolution addresses two concerns, namely the towns’ need to 
perform due diligence and complete their legislative processes before signing any type of contract and 
CRRA’s need to negotiate contracts for operation of Mid-Connecticut Project facilities and sale of 
power. He said CRRA recognizes the towns’ position on Section 601(b) of the MSAs signed by 44 
Project towns, and the proposed resolution is silent on that issue so the towns are not relinquishing 
whatever rights they may have under Section 601(b). 
 
Mr. Salomone asked for comments from the floor. He asked people to identify themselves when 
speaking. 
 
Mr. Barlow said the towns appreciate efforts to come up with a reasonable timetable for acting on the 
Tier 1 MSAs. He proposed amendments to the resolution that would 

• Include language recognizing the 44 towns’ rights under Section 601(b) of their MSAs and stating 
those towns are not foregoing those rights; and 

• Add language stating that the Project municipalities concur it is in everyone’s best interests to 
expedite action on the MSAs. 

 
Mr. Pace said he would like to see the changes in writing. 
 
Ms. Gilbert said in her view the proposed resolution and the proposed amendments would take 
language in the contract and expand on it. 
 
Mr. Stein seconded Mr. Barlow’s motion to amend the proposed resolution. 
 
Ms. Gilbert said approval of the proposed resolution as amended should be contingent upon Committee 
members’ satisfaction with the written product. 
 
Ms. Stille said she wants to make sure that all 70 communities have the same target date of July 1, 2011. 
 
Mr. Valentine pointed out the resolution is not necessarily binding. 
 
Mr. Salomone suggested the re-drafted resolution be send to Committee members. Mr. 
Nonnenmacher said that based his interpretation of Section 5.2 of the by-laws, only those members 
participating in the meeting would be eligible to vote on it. The Committee agreed with that 
interpretation. 
 
Ms. Gilbert asked whether the revised Tier 1 MSAs will still be distributed by December 31. Mr. Kirk 
said they will. She asked whether the revisions to the Tier 1 MSA will impact the towns’ need to adopt a 
flow-control ordinance. He said many towns already have such ordinances in place, and that CRRA will 
be a partner in enforcing flow-control. 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of September 28, 2010 
Page 4 of 5 
 
Mr. Valentine asked whether the MSAs will spell out a forward role for CRRA in enforcement. Mr. 
Kirk said it is CRRA’s intent that CRRA will do the work on enforcement. 
 
Mr. Pace asked to call the question. Mr. Salomone asked that to determine whether a roll-call vote was 
necessary, any Committee members intending to vote against the resolution and amendments declare 
their intention. There being no members making such a declaration, the Committee agreed the vote was 
unanimously in favor of the resolution and amendments pending review of the written resolution as 
amended. 
 
The resolution as amended reads: 
 

MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE TIMETABLE FOR MUNICIPAL ACTION ON TIER 1 

MUNICIPAL SERVICE AGREEMENTS 
SEPTEMBER 28, 2010 

 
WHEREAS, the existing Municipal Service Agreements (MSAs) between the 70 Mid-Connecticut 
Project cities and towns will expire in 2012 and  
 
WHEREAS, the Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority (CRRA) is offering those 70 cities and 
towns new MSAs to succeed the existing MSAs and  
 
WHEREAS, CRRA will soon enter negotiations with contractors interested in operating and 
maintaining the Mid-Connecticut trash-to-energy facility and  
 
WHEREAS, CRRA will soon enter negotiations for the sale of power generated at said facility and 
 
WHEREAS, CRRA has declared it can negotiate the best terms for said contracts if it has commitments 
for deliveries of municipal solid waste equal or close to the facility’s capacity and 
 
WHEREAS, terms of said contracts will impact the disposal fee paid by cities and towns to CRRA 
under new MSAs and 
 
WHEREAS, in recognition of these facts CRRA had asked cities and towns to decide whether to sign a 
new MSA by January 1, 2011, and  
 
WHEREAS, leaders of several of those communities expressed concern that the January 1, 2011, 
deadline would not accommodate the needs of their own due diligence and local legislative processes 
and 
 
WHEREAS, 44 of those cities and towns have language in Section 601(b) of their existing MSAs under 
which they “have the option, exercisable by it in writing not less than one hundred and eighty (180) days 
subsequent to receipt of notice from the Authority of the date of [retirement of Mid-Connecticut Project 
bonds], to continue to receive disposal services from the Authority upon terms and subject to conditions 
no less favorable than those accorded any party receiving such services in respect to the System,” and  
 
WHEREAS, those 44 cities and towns do not forego the aforementioned rights to continued service and 
 



Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
Minutes of September 28, 2010 
Page 5 of 5 
 
WHEREAS, Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns concur that it would be in the best interests of all 
parties to expedite action on MSAs now  
 
BE IT RESOLVED that the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee support CRRA’s 
request of a target date of July 1, 2011, for cities and towns to act on new MSAs.  
 
(Mr. Nonnenmacher distributed by e-mail the amended resolution to those Committee members who 
participated in the meeting. None expressed rejection of the resolution.) 
 
5. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Mr. Stein moved to adjourn the meeting. Ms. Currey seconded. The motion passed unanimously and the 
meeting was adjourned at 1:50 p.m. 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
       
 

Paul Nonnenmacher 
Director of Public Affairs 

 
 
 



 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 3 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 1 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report 
of the 

Mid‐Connecticut Project Special Committee 
To the 

Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority 
Board of Directors 

 

Options for Disposing of Solid Waste  
after the Expiration of  
Mid‐Connecticut Project  

Municipal Service Agreements 
 
 

October 27, 2010 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 2 - 

Table of Contents 
 

1.  Introduction 

2.  Executive Summary 

3.  Future Disposal Options  

   A. Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority 

       i.   Condition of Mid‐Connecticut Project Trash Disposal System 

       ii.  Expectations for post‐2012 pricing 

   B. Out‐of‐State Options 

3. New and Emerging Technologies 

   A. Technology Categories Evaluated 

   B.  Technologies Considered to Be Commercially Viable 

       i.   Estimated Disposal Fees for Commercially‐Viable Technologies 

C. Other Technologies that May Impact Trash Disposal Costs 

4.  Conclusion 
 
 
 
Attachments:  Mid-Connecticut Project map 
          PowerPoint from Special Committee meeting of January 27, 2010 
          Mid-Connecticut Project key date timeline          
          Legislative Program Review & Investigations Committee Report on Municipal  
            Solid Waste Management Services in Connecticut, January 12, 2010 
 

pnonnenmacher
Text Box
Attachments are available on-line at http://www.crra.org/documents/public_records/Mid-Conn_Special_Committee/Special_Committee_Report_10-27-2010.pdf .



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 3 - 

1.  Introduction 
 
The Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority has Municipal Service Agreements (MSAs) with 70 

cities and towns to use CRRA’s Mid-Connecticut Project trash disposal system, which includes a trash-

to-energy plant in Hartford permitted to process up to 3,700 tons of municipal solid waste (MSW) per 

day and burn up to 2,028 tons of refuse-derived fuel (RDF) per day to generate electricity. With the RDF 

technology used by the Mid-Connecticut plant, trash is processed into RDF, and then blown into 

furnaces. The combustion produces steam which spins turbines to generate power. The system also 

includes regional transfer stations in Torrington, Watertown, Essex and Ellington. (A map depicting 

Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns and the locations of Project facilities is attached.) Some of 

these MSAs date back to the mid-1980s; all except for one, that of Waterbury, will expire by November 

2012. 

 

The Mid-Connecticut Project Special Committee was created by a resolution adopted by the CRRA 

Board of Directors on October 29, 2009. The Special Committee was created pursuant to Connecticut 

General Statutes Section 22a-268f, which reads: 

Special committees to study options for municipal solid waste disposal. Not later than 
three years before the last maturity date of any outstanding bond issuance for a waste 
management project, as defined in section 22a-260, administered by the Connecticut 
Resources Recovery Authority, the board of directors of the authority shall establish a 
special committee for such project consisting of five representatives of the authority and 
not more than five representatives jointly designated by the municipalities having a 
contract with the authority for such project. At least two years before such last maturity 
date, such special committee shall study and present to said board of directors options 
for disposing of solid waste from such municipalities after the expiration of such 
contract. Such options shall include, but shall not be limited to, private sector 
management of such solid waste disposal. 

 
By ballot in October 2009, the 70 Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns elected as their 

representatives on the Special Committee the following chief executive officers (or their designees): 

Barkhamsted First Selectman Donald S. Stein, Canton First Selectman Richard J. Barlow, East Hartford 

Mayor Melody A. Currey, Hartford Mayor Eddie A. Perez (who designated Chief of Staff Susan M. 

McMullen as his proxy) and Windsor Locks First Selectman Steven N. Wawruck Jr. Mr. Perez resigned 

as mayor in June and Ms. McMullen resigned from the City of Hartford shortly thereafter and, at this 

writing, new Mayor Pedro E. Segarra has not indicated who will fill Hartford’s seat on the Special 

Committee. 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 4 - 

CRRA Chairman Michael A. Pace appointed Director Alan J. Desmarais, Director David B. Damer, 

Director Timothy C. Griswold, President Thomas D. Kirk and Director of Environmental Affairs & 

Development Peter W. Egan to represent the Authority. When Mr. Desmarais resigned from the CRRA 

Board in May, Chairman Pace appointed himself to that seat. 

 
The Special Committee held its first meeting on December 10, 2009. All records of the Special 

Committee are available on CRRA’s website at http://www.crra.org/pages/mid-

conn_special_committee.htm.  

 

During the course of its work, the Special Committee examined  

• the condition of the Mid-Connecticut Project facilities, specifically its trash-to-energy plant; 

• new technologies for solid waste disposal that are being developed; and 

• the broader solid waste disposal situation and its implications for Mid-Connecticut Project cities and 

towns. 

 

The Mid-Connecticut system also includes a recycling processing center, located in Hartford, where 

recyclables from Project cities and towns are sorted and baled for shipping to manufacturers who turn 

these materials into new products. Because Sec. 22a-268f specifies “municipal solid waste” as the 

Special Committee’s focus, this report does not discuss options for recycling. 

 

The above-referenced statute requires the Special Committee to prepare a report discussing options that 

may be available to Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns following the expiration of their municipal 

service agreements with CRRA in November 2012, and to submit said report to the CRRA Board of 

Directors two years before Mid-Connecticut Project bonds mature. Project bonds mature November 15, 

2012; therefore this report must be presented to the CRRA Board of Directors by November 15, 2010. 

 

The above-referenced statute is silent on the question of whether the Special Committee should 

recommend any particular option or options to the cities and towns. However, at its meeting of June 23, 

2010, the Committee’s consensus was that its report should only draw conclusions where the Committee 

had sufficient information to do so. It has long been the Authority’s position that cities and towns should 

investigate their options themselves to determine which best suits their needs.



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 5 - 

2. Executive Summary 
 
The CRRA Mid-Connecticut Project’s system of four regional transfer stations feeding its centrally-

located trash-to-energy plant is geographically well suited to serve the 70 Mid-Connecticut Project cities 

and towns. Engineering studies have concluded that if CRRA continues to maintain the trash-to-energy 

plant to industry standards, the plant should operate at high efficiency into the 2020s. CRRA expects its 

post-2012 disposal fees to be lower than at present based on expected cost reductions and increased 

power prices. 

 

Out-of-state options, including hauling by truck and rail to large regional landfills, are viable because 

Connecticut, due to political and regulatory obstacles, does not have enough in-state disposal capacity to 

manage its own waste. A study by the General Assembly’s Legislative Program Review & 

Investigations Committee indicated that costs for exporting trash could be substantially higher than the 

current Mid-Connecticut Project disposal fee, but without the type of solid information that a specific 

Request for Proposals would produce the Special Committee was unable to draw any conclusions. 

 

New technologies are being developed which could, someday, supplant the current trash-to-energy 

system as the most environmentally responsible and cost-effective disposal method. However, only a 

handful of those technologies will be commercially viable in the near future, and the Committee 

concluded that none of these technologies is ready to merit an investment at this time.



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 6 - 

3. Future Disposal Options 
 
  A. Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority 

 

The Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns have been using the CRRA Mid-Connecticut Project 

system since the 1980s. Because its facilities were located to minimize transportation costs for these 

communities – with four regional transfer stations feeding the centrally-located trash-to-energy plant – 

this system, logically, is the first option this report will address. Therefore, the first question that must be 

addressed is the expected life span of this system. 

 

When it began operating this system, CRRA maintained a regular capital expenditure program to keep 

these facilities operating at maximum efficiency. This program relied on annual contributions to a 

reserve account so that large repairs, refurbishments or improvements could be made without 

necessitating a spike in disposal fees.  

 

However, when Enron went bankrupt and stopped making its payments for electricity generated by the 

trash-to-energy plant the Project suddenly lost about one-third of its annual revenue. Rather than closing 

that gap with massive disposal fee increases, CRRA’s new board and management drained about $36 

million in reserves, including the capital-projects reserve, and deferred other major expenditures. Large 

maintenance projects, though necessary, were postponed. 

 

   i. Condition of Mid‐Connecticut Project Trash Disposal System 

 

The maintenance deferrals could only go on for a few years before the system suffered. Therefore, 

because of declining efficiency and safety concerns, along with inadequate maintenance by the 

contractor responsible for the WPF, resumption of these major projects was necessary.  

 

Since resuming the capital expenditure program, CRRA has undertaken many such projects. In January 

2010, CRRA Senior Engineer Rich Quelle outlined these projects to the Special Committee. Here is a 

summary of projects completed since 2006: 

• Replacement of systems in the trash-to-energy plant control rooms – $2.8 million 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 7 - 

• Upgrading shredder motors and refurbishing shredder containment casings – $1.8 million 

• Replacement and upgrading of boiler tubes to increase availability – $1.2 million 

• Upgrades to fire-suppression system – $500,000 

• Expand ash load-out building and add a scale to accommodate long-haul trucks needed for ash 

disposal – $1.9 million 

• Add shredder to process bulky waste following closing of Hartford landfill – $750,000 

• Upgrades to belt conveyors and sealing systems to reduce housekeeping and maintenance – $2 

million 

• Refurbishing steel pan conveyors – $1.5 million 

• Replacement of turbine rotor diaphragms – $850,000 

• Replacement of 20-year-old waste processing facility compressors – $750,000 

• Purchase spare shredder motors to speed maintenance and increase availability – $600,000 

• New heavy equipment – $2 million 

• WPF processing floor repairs and resurfacing – $1.5 million 

A copy of the PowerPoint presentation he delivered, which illustrates many of the projects completed, is 

attached to this report. 

 

As a result of these and other, smaller projects, the plant’s efficiency is returning to peak levels, and two 

engineering studies have concluded that by maintaining the plant according to industry standards, the 

Mid-Connecticut trash-to-energy facility should operate at high efficiency well into the 2020s. 

 

CRRA is also spending to maintain the transfer stations. In fiscal year 2011, CRRA plans to spend more 

than $150,000 on building, road, roof and floor repairs at the four stations. 

 

   ii. Expectations for Post‐2012 Pricing 

 

With this reasonable assurance of the long-term availability of the Mid-Connecticut Project system, it is 

important to discuss what it might charge for disposal beyond 2012 and how that would compare with 

other alternatives. 

 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 8 - 

For the last several years, Mid-Connecticut Project disposal fees have remained stable, even with the 

dramatic increases in spending on maintenance and capital projects. The chart entitled “Mid-Connecticut 

Tip Fee Since 2004 vs. CPI” shows that had the $70-per-ton disposal fee set in 2004 tracked growth in 

the U.S. Department of Labor consumer price index, the disposal fee would be more than $83 per ton. In 

reality, the FY 2011 disposal fee is $69 per ton. 

 

Barring any unforeseen 

circumstances, CRRA 

management expects the 

Mid-Connecticut Project 

disposal fee to be 

measurably less in FY 

2013 for three reasons: 

• Much of the Project’s 

power is still sold at 

prices set prior to 

electric utility 

restructuring in the late 1990s. Those contracts expire in 2012 and market trends indicate that the 

Project’s electricity will generate much more revenue under new contracts, which will reduce the 

amount of disposal-fee revenue the Project will require. Management expects electric revenues to 

increase because power prices track fuel prices, and the consensus among forecasts CRRA has 

examined is that fuel prices will rise, especially in New England, which is heavily dependent on 

natural gas for generating power. (See chart entitled “Simplified FY 2011 Mid-Connecticut Project 

Revenues” for more detail.)  

• Management has been working to reduce overhead, administrative costs and payroll and expects 

further savings will be realized in the next few years. CRRA FY 2011 general fund budget totals 

$5.7 million, a 13-percent decrease from the FY 2010 budget of $6.6 million and 28 percent below 

FY 2009’s actual expenditures of $7.9 million. 

• Management believes CRRA will realize significant savings through its competitive procurement for 

one or more contractors to operate the trash-to-energy plant. Two arbitration panels have confirmed 

that one of the current operators has overcharged CRRA for its services for years. 

Mid-Connecticut Tip Fee Since 2004 vs. CPI

$62$60.96

$70 $69

$83.04$70

$-

$15

$30

$45

$60

$75

$90

Jul-04 Jul-05 Jul-06 Jul-07 Jul-08 Jul-09 Jul-10 Jul-11

Actual tip fee 2004 tip fee plus annual CPI adjustment



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 9 - 

 
CRRA has crafted two 

types of draft renewal 

municipal service 

agreements – referred to 

as Tier 1 and Tier 2 

MSAs. The first draft of 

the Tier 1 MSA was 

circulated to cities and 

towns for their feedback, 

and CRRA considered 

their comments in 

preparing a second draft 

of the Tier 1 MSA which, 

along with a first draft of 

the Tier 2 MSA, were 

distributed in early July. At this writing, CRRA had completed a series of informational workshops to 

solicit additional feedback and answer questions about both MSAs.  

 

CRRA requested comments on the latest drafts of the Tier 1 and Tier 2 MSAs by September 15, 2010. 

CRRA is considering all the input it has collected in preparing subsequent drafts or final versions of the 

renewal MSAs. At this writing, CRRA anticipates distributing a final version of the Tier 1 MSA in late 

2010 and, pending the concurrence of the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee, will 

ask for towns wishing to do so to sign Tier 1 MSAs by July 1, 2011. Those dates, at this writing, are 

subject to change. 

 

 B. Discussion of Out-of-State Options 

 

As cities and towns look at their options for disposal after their Mid-Connecticut Project contracts 

expire, many of them have already been contacted by private-sector operators. However, a report from 

the General Assembly’s Legislative Program Review & Investigations (PRI) Committee (a copy of the 

PRI report is attached) determined that cities and towns seeking alternatives to the Mid-Connecticut 

Simplified FY 2011 Mid-Connecticut Project 
Revenues

Recycling sales 
$1,470,000 

(1.47%)

Solid waste 
disposal fees 
$54,576,000 

(54.54%)

Power sales 
$24,040,000 

(24.03%)

Use of reserves 
& prior-year 

surplus 
$11,101,000 

(11.09%)

Other revenues 
$8,873,000 

(8.87%)



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 10 - 

Project will likely be forced to ship their trash out of state. Connecticut has six trash-to-energy plants 

and only one small municipal solid waste landfill, and combined they do not provide enough disposal 

capacity to meet the state’s needs. In 2008, the latest year for which figures are available, the 

Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection reported 

(http://www.ct.gov/dep/lib/dep/reduce_reuse_recycle/data/average_state_msw_statistics_fy2008.pdf) 

that more than 260,000 tons of garbage – or almost 8 percent of all waste generated in the state – was 

disposed of outside Connecticut. 

 

The authors of the PRI report, legislative analysts Scott Simoneau and Eric Gray, discussed their 

findings in a presentation to the Special Committee in May 2010. As their report (pages 33-34) noted, 

entities interested in building new disposal capacity in Connecticut face significant barriers to entry:  

 
• Government regulation. A number of federal, state and local, environmental, 

zoning, and permit laws and regulations dictate critical aspects of storage, 
handling, processing, and disposal of MSW at RRFs (resource recovery facilities, 
or trash-to-energy plants) and landfills. Obtaining a permit to construct a new 
disposal facility or expand an existing one is a costly and time-consuming process 
that typically takes many years to conclude. The Lisbon plant, for example, was 
the last RRF to be permitted in Connecticut and that took nearly a decade to 
permit and construct. 

• Capital costs. The capital costs of building a large RRF plant have been 
estimated to be about $500 million. Further, it is also difficult and costly to satisfy 
and overcome environmental concerns and other government requirements. 

• Public opposition. Local public opposition often increases the time and 
uncertainty of successfully permitting a facility. CRRA's recent attempt to build an 
ash landfill in Franklin is a prime example of public and legislative opposition 
defeating a proposal to develop an ash residue disposal option. 

 
One government-imposed barrier particularly worth noting is the determination 
of need [DON] requirement in Connecticut that was established after five of the 
six RRF plants were in operation. Before a permit to build or expand an RRF, a 
mixed MSW landfill, or an ash landfill can be issued, DEP must find that a need 
exists for such a facility or expansion and such a facility or expansion will not 
result in "substantial" excess disposal capacity in Connecticut. This is contrary to 
the principles of supply and demand. Excess capacity tends to drive prices down. 

 
Essentially, the DON requirements make it impossible for a competitor to enter 
the market unless there is substantial excess MSW to be disposed. However, it is 
likely that existing companies will try to expand before a new competitor enters.  
 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 11 - 

Thus, in-state disposal services clearly appear to have high barriers to entry that 
could raise concerns regarding what impact they have on fair and reasonable 
pricing for services from existing providers. 

 
CRRA management believes there may be additional capacity at Connecticut’s other five trash-to-

energy plants, since at one time or another all accept MSW at “fire-sale” prices when waste flows drop. 

Historically, there is less garbage in the winter, for example, so merchant-plant operators will cut their 

prices rather than allow capacity to go unused. This excess seasonal capacity is of limited value when 

considering long-term arrangements unless the facility operators are allowed to bale and store MSW for 

processing when deliveries drop off. Plant operators would obviously prefer to have longer-term 

contracts for MSW deliveries, which would fetch higher prices than the spot market or fire-sale prices, 

but it is impossible to obtain reliable data about how much spot-market MSW each of these plants 

accepts and thus management cannot definitively state how much capacity is in fact available. 

 

In calendar year 2009 the 70 Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns delivered almost 800,000 tons of 

garbage. It should be noted that  

• 14 cities and towns’ long-term contracts with the Bristol facility expire in 2014;  

• A CRRA contract that enables 12 cities and towns to deliver trash to the Bridgeport facility expires 

in 2014; and  

• 12 cities and towns’ long-term contracts with the Preston facility expire in 2015. 

Expiration of these contracts could free up capacity to serve Mid-Connecticut Project communities if the 

operators of those facilities and the towns they currently serve cannot agree to new contracts or 

extensions of existing contracts. 

 

With the state’s deficiency of capacity, and these barriers to entry, some Mid-Connecticut communities 

are considering out-of-state options. Following are some of the findings from the PRI report (pages 42 

through 45) on out-of-state disposal. 

 
Out-of-state market cost estimates. Estimating the cost of out-of-state disposal 
of MSW involves three costs; the costs to construct and operate a truck-based or 
rail-based transfer station, the costs to transport the waste from the transfer 
station to the landfill, and the actual disposal or tip fee. There have been two 
fairly recent analyses performed on the cost to transport MSW from Connecticut 
to various landfills in the region. One was performed by a consultant for DEP 
and the other was performed by a different consultant on behalf of the South 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 12 - 

Central Regional Council of Governments (SCRCOG). These are not actual 
quotes from trucking or rail haul companies but estimates developed by experts. 
 
Road haul. The table below shows the estimated costs found in the two reports to 
transfer and transport waste by truck to various out-of-state landfills from three 
different towns in Connecticut. The reports made a few different assumptions 
regarding transportation by truck that alter the outcomes. For example, DEP's 
estimated disposal tip fees tend to be higher; the SCRCOG report has assumed a 
better rate based on a longer-term contracts being signed by municipalities. Also, 
the assumed transportation cost per mile is different -- DEP's estimated about 14 
cents per mile, while the SCRCOG report assumes 23 cents per mile. Finally, 
DEP's estimate assumes the hauler will find something to bring back ("backhaul") 
after the load is deposited at the landfill to subsidize the cost. For comparison 
purposes, the one-way costs for one town and the round-trip costs for the same 
town based on DEP's estimate are provided. The analysis suggests that for 
certain municipalities who are paying in the $80 per ton or more range for 
disposal an out-of-state disposal option is viable under certain conditions. 
 
Estimated Costs to Transfer MSW to Out-of-State Landfills 

 
 
 

DEP estimate 
One way 

from Danbury 

DEP estimate 
One way  

from Putnam 

DEP estimate 
Round trip  

from Putnam 

SCRCOG estimate 
Round trip from 

North Haven 

Seneca 
Meadows (NY) $80 $82 $125 $180 

High Acres 
(NY) $82 $85 $131 $278 

American (OH) $102 $97 $190 $277 
Alliance (PA) $63 $80 $118 $117 
Conestoga (PA) $77 $85 $128 $136 
Middle 
Peninsula (VA) $86 $98 $164 $229 

All estimates are price per ton including transfer, hauling and disposal costs. 
Source: State of Connecticut DEP, State Solid Waste Management Plan, December 2006, and 
South Central Regional Council of Governments, Future of Regional Solid Waste Disposal, RS 
Lynch and Company, January 30, 2009. PRI calculation based on DEP data for the DEP round-
trip estimate. 
 
The competitiveness of out-of-state disposal options by long-haul trucking is 
not clear-cut based on the development and analysis of estimates by experts. 
Based on current in-state RRF disposal rates, both with and without estimated 
transfer station costs, running between $60 to about $85 per ton, the table shows 
that long-haul out-of-state disposal of waste could be competitive if municipalities 
only had to pay one-way costs. The most cost competitive disposal options are 
landfills in Pennsylvania with costs ranging from $63 to $80 depending on where 
the load originates. It should be noted that truck transportation is also very 
sensitive to volatility in fuel costs. 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 13 - 

 
Rail haul. Another potential lower-cost option is to export MSW from 
Connecticut by rail to out-of-state landfills. Rail transport requires special 
loading and unloading facilities. Rail transport can be achieved through the use 
of intermodal containers, direct-loaded into bulk rail cars, or baled (i.e., MSW is 
wrapped into cubes). Rail car transport becomes more cost effective the greater 
the distance versus over-the-road trucking. There are several benefits cited in 
regard to rail transportation over trucking. These include: 
• reduction of traffic congestion by keeping trucks off the highways; 
• rail transportation produces almost five times less air pollution than 

transportation by trucking; 
• rail hauling is also safer, from an accident point of view, than truck hauling; 

and 
• a single rail car can carry up to 110-130 tons of waste while a single long-haul 

truck can only transport about 22 tons. 
 

In the State Solid Waste Management Plan, DEP, with the help of a consultant, 
developed an estimated range of costs to ship waste by rail from Connecticut to 
landfills in New York, Virginia, South Carolina, Ohio, and Western Pennsylvania.  
 
Estimated Cost Per Ton of Rail Haul to Out-Of-State Landfills from Connecticut, 
2006. 
Landfill Transfer Rail Haul Tip Fee Total 
Virginia $7 $48 $25 $80 
South Carolina $7 $57 $25 $89 
Ohio $7 $51 $30 $88 
Western Pennsylvania $7 $49 $30 $86 
Rochester, NY, area $7 $39 $30 $76 

Higher end costs were used for DEP estimates if a range was presented. 
Source: State of Connecticut DEP, State Solid Waste Management Plan, December 2006 
 
Again, if the current in-state RRF disposal rates, both with and without estimated 
transfer station costs, are between $60 to about $85 per ton, rail haul could be a 
competitive option (especially to western New York and Virginia) for some 
municipalities paying tip fees on the higher end of the current range.  
 
DEP notes that actual quotes from rail companies or shippers could be lower 
because of the large volumes of shipments that municipalities generate and 
therefore could be in a better bargaining position to negotiate better rates. They 
have estimated the rates could be 10 to 20 percent lower for large volumes of 
waste. 
 
Recent actual experience. There have been a couple of examples of actual haul-
by-rail quotes received by different municipalities in the state. In 2007, the city of 
Stamford issued a request for proposals for MSW management services. The city 
received proposals from five different vendors. The proposals included both in-
state and out-of-state disposal options that ranged from $69 per ton to $96 per 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 14 - 

ton. The city selected Transload America to handle its MSW disposal needs. 
Transload is shredding, baling, and loading solid waste on a flat-bed carrier, and 
rail-hauling it to a landfill in Ohio. The cost for the three-year rail haul and 
disposal contract is $69.00 per ton in 2008, $76.00 per ton in 2009 and $79.80 in 
2010. The contract has two one-year options to renew. These costs do not include 
complete transfer station expenditures. In addition, the city operates a transfer 
station operation and charges $88.00 per ton for commercially generated 
municipal solid waste and bulky wastes. 

 
The SCRCOG report mentioned earlier contains references to two quotes 
received from Transload America. Transload recently submitted a proposal to the 
New Haven [Solid Waste and Recycling Authority] to operate its transfer station, 
bale the MSW, and transfer and transport the baled MSW to an out-of-state 
facility for about $82 per ton. In 2008, New Haven had been paying about $91 
per ton for hauling and disposal at the Lisbon RRF. Transload also estimated that 
it could provide another SCRCOG community with a transfer station with the 
same services as New Haven for about $92 per ton. 

 
It should be noted that services priced in the PRI report include nothing more than transportation from 

the locality to the final disposal site and disposal at that site. Other solid-waste services many towns use, 

including  

• operation and maintenance of regional transfer stations,  

• transportation from the regional transfer station to final disposal site,  

• acceptance of mandated recyclables, 

• bulky-waste disposal and  

• electronics recycling,  

could add considerable costs to those towns’ solid-waste budgets. 

 

And while the PRI report does include some data about possible pricing, the Committee believes that 

only a Request for Proposals will produce enough timely facts to enable it to make any 

recommendations in this report.



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 15 - 

3. New and Emerging Technologies 

 
The future of trash disposal may involve technologies other than the conventional waste-to-energy 

system in use in Connecticut. Many new technologies are under development or already in use in limited 

scale in foreign countries. CRRA commissioned an evaluation of these new processes and summarized 

its findings for the Special Committee in March 2010. 

 

  A.  Technology Categories Evaluated 

 

CRRA looked at several alternative technologies, which can be grouped into the following 

classifications: 

• Thermal (Gasification or Advanced Combustion) 

o Use or produce heat to change the composition of MSW 

o Products include synthesis gas, vitrified ash or char 

o Includes Gasification, Pyrolysis, Plasma; Advanced Mass Burn 

• Digestion (Aerobic and Anaerobic) 

o Decomposes organic fraction of MSW using microbes 

o Anaerobic digestion produces biogas and compost 

o Aerobic produces compost only 

• Hydrolysis 

o Chemical reaction in which water (typically with an acid) reacts with another substance to form a 

new substance) (e.g.: extracts cellulose from MSW to form sugar; sugar in turn fermented to 

form ethanol) 

• Chemical Processing 

o Depolymerization – converts organic fraction into energy, such as oil 

• Mechanical Processing for Gasification, Combustion or Fiber Recovery 

o Recovers materials for gasification or combustion 

 

The evaluation then focused on those technologies considered to be commercially viable. CRRA 

considered a technology to be commercially viable if it 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 16 - 

• is currently or may be in commercial use so as to be able to replace the existing Mid-Connecticut 

Project Facility in Hartford (commercial use is defined as currently in regular use to process MSW 

on a contract basis); 

• is capable, with no or reasonable scale-up, of processing 850,000 tons per year of mixed, unsorted 

MSW; 

• requires either no or minimal change to MSW collection practices currently in use in Connecticut; 

• provides for separation of materials for recycling and/or beneficial use of MSW; and  

• has a potential disposal fee for receipt and processing of waste of $80 per ton or less in 2012 

dollars, considering all development, financing, design, construction and operating costs, less 

revenues from sale of energy and products. 

 

  B. Categories Considered to have Commercial Viability 

 

Thermal Processing (gasification) is currently in commercial operation for MSW in countries such as 

Japan, Indonesia, Germany and Italy, but not in the United States. These technologies use or produce 

heat to change the composition of MSW, producing synthesis gas, vitrified ash or char. Several types of 

gasification technologies are in commercial operation, including fluid-bed gasification, high-temperature 

gasification, plasma gasification and pyrolysis. These gasification technologies have not been 

commercially applied within the United States. Technology transfer to the United States, and the Mid-

Connecticut Project in particular, would need to be addressed in considering commercial application for 

this project.   

 

Thermal Processing (advanced combustion) technologies are currently in commercial operation for 

mixed MSW in countries such as the Netherlands and Germany.  These technologies have not been 

commercially applied in the United States, but technology transfer to the United States should not be a 

significant issue since the technology is an advanced form of traditional waste-to-energy presently in 

extensive use in the United States. 

 

Advanced Mechanical Processing with Gasification or Combustion is in commercial operation in 

Germany, Italy and Belgium for MSW.  This process has not yet been commercially applied in the 

United States. Accordingly, technology transfer is possible, but it would need to be examined in context 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 17 - 

of commercial operation potential at the Mid-Connecticut Project (e.g., potential differences in MSW 

composition, waste management practices, end-product markets and regulatory requirements).   

 

The Committee looked at one such process offered by a company called Summit BioFuels. While the 

technology is promising and could, at some point, offer cost savings over conventional trash-to-energy 

technology, CRRA management recommended and the Committee concurred that the potential savings 

are not enough to justify the risking of public funds on a process that, as yet, is unproven on the scale 

needed to be practical for Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns. More information about this 

technology is available through a link on CRRA’s website at http://www.crra.org/pages/mid-

conn_special_committee.htm . 

 

   i. Estimated Disposal Fees  

 

The table below compares estimated disposal fees for several technology categories that have the 

potential of meeting commercial viability criteria (i.e., thermal processing, both gasification and 

advanced combustion, and mechanical processing with gasification or combustion). 

 

Estimated Disposal Fees for Alternative Technology Categories Considered Commercially Viable 

Estimated Disposal Fee 
Thermal 
Processing 
Gasification 

Thermal 
Processing 
Advanced 
Combustion 

Mechanical 
Processing with 
Gasification or 
Combustion 

Fee for 850,000 TPY facility in 2012 (1) (3) $82/ton $68-$88/ton $114/ton 

Fee for 850,000 TPY facility in 2012 (2) (3) $70/ton $59-$75/ton $101/ton 
Notes: 
 (1) With 20-year amortization 
(2) With 30-year amortization 
(3) Possibility of fee reduction if renewable energy credits or sale of carbon credits is available. 

 
(Comparison of other technology categories – hydrolysis, chemical and mechanical processing with 

fiber recovery – was not made since these technologies have not been demonstrated to process mixed 

MSW at a commercial stage and the information necessary to make an informative, reliable comparison 

is not available.  A comparison was not made for anaerobic digestion since the technology is not viable 

at the project size as required for the Mid-Connecticut Project).  

 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 18 - 

After thoroughly considering the available information on these emerging technologies, it was apparent 

to the Committee that someday one or more of them might supplant the current trash-to-energy system 

as the most environmentally responsible and cost-effective disposal method. However, only a handful of 

those technologies will be commercially viable in the near future, and the Committee concluded that 

none of these technologies is ready to merit an investment at this time. 

 

  C. Other Technologies that May Impact Trash Disposal Costs 

 

The by-product of the trash-to-energy process is ash residue. Since the Hartford landfill reached its 

permitted capacity in 2008, the Mid-Connecticut Project has had to truck its ash from Hartford to a 

privately-owned ash landfill in Putnam, which is now the only permitted ash landfill in the state. As 

shown on the chart entitled “FY 2011 Mid-Connecticut Project Expenditures,” ash disposal consumes 

more than 10 percent of 

the Project’s annual 

budget. If less ash must 

go to a landfill, the cost 

of disposal would also 

go down. Therefore, 

beneficial re-use of 

combustor ash should be 

considered. 

 
This year, Governor Rell 

signed into law Public 

Act 10-87 which directs 

DEP and the 

Connecticut Academy of 

Science and Engineering (CASE) to study beneficial re-use of ash and report its findings to the 

Legislature’s Committee on the Environment by January 1, 2011. CRRA has been calling for beneficial 

re-use of ash for years because 

• It would avoid the cost of landfilling in a state where there is no competitive market; 

FY 2011 Mid-Connecticut Project Expenditures

Administrative 
expenses,  

$3,700,000, 4%

Operational 
expenses,  

$10,554,000, 11%

Taxes, municipal 
subsidies & 

PILOTs,  
$6,596,000, 7%

Debt service,  
$4,375,000, 4%

Waste transport & 
transfer stations,  
$16,543,000, 16%

Ash disposal, 
$10,313,000, 

10%

Landfills,  
$1,518,000, 2%

Power Block, 
Regional 

Recycling Facility, 
Waste Processing 

Facility,  
$36,896,000, 36%

Other 
expenditures,  

$9,565,000, 10%



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 19 - 

• Ash can be used as an ingredient in asphalt or concrete, which can be made into shingles, paving 

blocks, or road sub-base; 

• PRI’s research indicated that several other states, including Florida, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, 

Maryland, New Hampshire, New York, Hawaii, and Missouri, allow beneficial re-use, either in 

asphalt, road base or daily landfill cover. 

 

The PRI report looked at beneficial re-use and its findings affirmed CRRA’s position. It did point out 

that because coal ash, whose properties (including heavy-metal content) are similar to that of combustor 

ash, is so prevalent there may not be a market for products containing combustor ash. 

 

The PRI report recommended specific points for the DEP/CASE study to address: 

• Which states allow beneficial re-use of ash residue and for what purposes;  

• The amount of ash actually re-used in those states and for what purposes; 

• The potential for ash re-use in Connecticut; 

• Barriers to re-use in Connecticut, including barriers to re-use of ash as a roadbed material or an 

ingredient in asphalt used in state construction projects; and 

• Cost-effective solutions for the re-use or disposal of ash. 

 

When considering this issue, DEP, CASE and the Legislature should recall that there was little market 

for recycled paper until Public Act 90-224 required publishers and printers to use newsprint containing a 

minimum amount of recycled fiber: 

Sec. 22a-256n. Publishers: Use of newsprint with recycled content. Schedule. On a 
state-wide basis, the percentage of recycled fiber contained in newsprint used by all 
publishers shall be in accordance with the following schedule: For the year ending 
December 31, 1992, eleven per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1993, 
sixteen per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1994, twenty per cent or 
more; for the two years ending December 31, 1996, twenty-three per cent or more; for the 
year ending December 31, 1997, thirty-one per cent or more; for the year ending 
December 31, 1998, forty per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1999, 
forty-five per cent or more; and for the year ending December 31, 2000, and thereafter, 
fifty per cent or more. 
 Sec. 22a-256p. Printers: Use of newsprint with recycled content. Schedule. On a 
state-wide basis, the percentage of recycled fiber contained in newsprint used by all 
printers shall be in accordance with the following schedule: For the year ending 
December 31, 1992, eleven per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1993, 
sixteen per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1994, twenty per cent or 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 20 - 

more; for the two years ending December 31, 1996, twenty-three per cent or more; for the 
year ending December 31, 1997, thirty-one per cent or more; for the year ending 
December 31, 1998, forty per cent or more; for the year ending December 31, 1999, 
forty-five per cent or more; and for the year ending December 31, 2000, and thereafter, 
fifty per cent or more. 

 

Today, 10 years after the state required use of newsprint containing 50-percent recycled fiber, markets 

for recycled paper are robust. It is certainly conceivable that legislation could similarly create a market 

for combustor ash. 

 



Special Committee Report 10-27-2010.doc 
- 21 - 

4. Conclusion 

 
As stated earlier, the Special Committee would only draw conclusions where the Committee had 

sufficient information to do so.  Because Sec. 22a-268f is silent on whether the Special Committee 

should recommend any particular option, this report makes no such recommendation. 

 

However, it has long been the Authority’s position that cities and towns should investigate their options 

themselves to determine which best suits their needs. This report provides details about what appears to 

be a limited number of options available today and a look at what may become technically or 

economically viable in the years to come. 

 

The Committee gave much consideration to the information developed by the PRI staff, including 

information on private-sector management of waste disposal. The Committee agrees that relying 

completely on the private sector for the vital service of waste disposal would not necessarily be in the 

best interests of the state or its cities and towns.  



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 4 



 



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

DRAFT 
MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A COMMITTEE ON GOVERNANCE OF THE 
CONNECTICUT RESOURCES RECOVERY AUTHORITY 

 
WHEREAS, Connecticut Resources Recovery Authority (“CRRA”) is governed by a Board of 
Directors (“Board”) created by Public Act 02-46 enacted by the General Assembly in 2002, and  
 
WHEREAS, CRRA was created in 1973 as a statewide body to modernize the state’s solid-
waste management system, and 
 
WHEREAS, Public Act 02-46 specifies the Board must include a certain number of municipal 
officials, and  
 
WHEREAS, leaders of some Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns are not satisfied with 
the level of municipal representation on the Board, and 
 
WHEREAS, those officials asked the General Assembly to modify the structure of the Board in 
2010 and intend to do so again in 2011, and 
 
WHEREAS, members of the current Board have indicated their willingness to discuss that 
structure in the hopes of agreeing on changes that would be proposed to the General Assembly, 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Article VIII of the By-Laws of the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory 
Committee (“By-Laws”) provides for the establishment of committees, now 
 
BE IT RESOLVED that the Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 
(“MAC”) establishes a Committee on Governance of the Connecticut Resources Recovery 
Authority to represent Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns in said discussions with the 
Board, and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Mid-Connecticut Project cities and towns will welcome 
the participation on the Committee on Governance of non-Mid-Connecticut Project 
municipalities that have service contracts with CRRA, and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Committee on Governance will report to the MAC on 
progress of its work and ask the MAC to endorse any agreement reached with CRRA before said 
agreement is submitted to the General Assembly, and  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Committee on Governance shall, in accordance with 
Section VIII of the By-Laws, serve until June 8, 2011. 
 



“Article VIII – Committees. The Municipal Advisory Committee may establish committees 
of members as the need arises. Such committees may be established either by a majority of 
members participating at a meeting or by order of the Chairman. The Chairman shall 
designate the chairman of each committee. Such committees will serve for the amount of 
time designated in the action establishing said committees.” 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 5 



 











 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 6 



 



2009 2010 Change 2010 2011 Change Oct 09 Oct 10 Change

800,894 789,333 (1.4%) 267,597 267,307 (0.1%) 66,821 65,115 (2.6%)

4,846,922 4,794,026 (1.1%) 1,622,904 1,636,249 0.8% 414,181 378,707 (8.6%)

79.8% 79.0% 79.3% 80.0% 80.3% 73.5%

391,548 390,270 (0.3%) 131,370 127,752 (2.8%) 34,110 31,206 (8.5%)

CONNECTICUT RESOURCES RECOVERY AUTHORITY

October 2010 Monthly Operational Summary

This report provides information on the operations of the CRRA Mid-Connecticut Project waste-to energy
facility for the period ending October 31, 2010.

Project/ Item
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

Mid-
Connecticut

Tons MSW 
Processed

Steam (klbs)
(% MCR)

Power               
Net MWhr)

1 of 5



2009 2010 Change 2010 2011 Change Oct 09 Oct 10 Change

800,894 789,333 (1.4%) 267,597 267,307 (0.1%) 66,821 65,115 (2.6%)

4,846,922 4,794,026 (1.1%) 1,622,904 1,636,249 0.8% 414,181 378,707 (8.6%)
79.8% 79.0% 79.3% 80.0% 80.3% 73.5%

391,548 390,270 (0.3%) 131,370 127,752 (2.8%) 34,110 31,206 (8.5%)

MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT
October 2010 Monthly Operational Summary

Item
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

Tons MSW 
Processed

Steam (klbs)
(% MCR)
Power               
Net MWhr)

50,000

55,000

60,000

65,000

70,000

75,000

80,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut - MSW Tons Processed FY 2009 FY 2010 Budget FY 2011

22,000

24,000

26,000

28,000

30,000

32,000

34,000

36,000

38,000

40,000

42,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut - Net Power Produced FY 2009 FY 2010 Budget FY 2011

2 of 5



(0.5%)

3.5% 

4.6% 

3.4% 

(6.9%)

(2.0%)

0.7% 

(0.1%)

(10.0%)

(8.0%)

(6.0%)

(4.0%)

(2.0%)

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut - Tons Processed - Deviation from Budget and Last Year

Dev. Budget

Dev. FY 2010

(11.8%)

(4.7%)
(4.1%)

(6.5%)

(11.3%)

(3.3%)

(0.7%)
(2.8%)

(16.0%)

(14.0%)

(12.0%)

(10.0%)

(8.0%)

(6.0%)

(4.0%)

(2.0%)

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut - Power Sold - Deviation from Budget and Last Year

Dev. Budget

Dev. FY 2010

3 of 5



Boiler 11 Boiler 12 Boiler 13
68% 84% 75%
75% 93% 91%
84% 81% 90%
69% 75% 76%

Date Ended Boiler Duration
(Hrs.)

07/01/10 11 17.80
07/01/10 12 7.93
07/07/10 13 5.97
07/08/10 12 6.00
07/14/10 11 52.37
07/16/10 13 12.97
07/18/10 11 10.74
07/23/10 11 46.90
07/30/10 11 56.05
07/29/10 13 46.88
08/03/10 11 23.75
08/04/10 12 6.00
08/07/10 13 46.80
09/03/10 12 29.77
09/15/10 13 55.50
09/17/10 11 42.00
09/18/10 12 23.85
09/22/10 12 17.90
09/30/10 12 30.95
10/08/10 13 11.33
10/11/10 11 33.03
10/15/10 13 42.75
10/18/10 11 22.99
10/26/10 12 40.13
10/30/10 11 49.8510/28/10 Tube repair.

Grate chain failure.
10/14/10 Tube repair.
10/17/10 SSC internal derail.
10/25/10 Tube repair.

Unit Capacity Factors
Month
Jul 09
Aug 09
Sep 09
Oct 09
Nov 09
Dec 09
Jan 10
Feb 10
Mar 10
Apr 10
May 10
Jun 10

Unscheduled Downtime
Date

Began Reason

07/01/10 Tube repair.
07/01/10 Large clinker jammed at grate discharge.
07/07/10 Loss of vigrating pans.
07/08/10 Condenser cleaning.
07/12/10 Tube repair.
07/16/10 Tube repair.
07/17/10 Tube repair.
07/22/10 Tube repair.
07/27/10 Tube repair.
07/28/10 Tube repair.
08/03/10 Waterwall and Superheater tube leaks.
08/04/10 Clinker jan.
08/06/10 Superheater tube leaks.
09/01/10 Waterwall tube leaks.
09/13/10 Failed distribution spout and Superheater failure.
09/15/10 Roof and Superheater leak.
09/17/10 Waterwall tube leak.
09/22/10 Grate failure.
09/29/10 Waterwall tube leak.
10/07/10 SSC internal derail.
10/09/10

4 of 5



Date Ended Boiler Duration
(Hrs.)

07/14/10 13 72.00
07/28/10 12 52.18
08/19/10 11 79.83
10/04/10 11 71.00
10/04/10 12 83.62
10/05/10 13 81.90

Net 
Generation 

(MWH)
619.63
361.76

10/02/10 Cold Steel Outage.

10/02/10 Cold Steel Outage.
10/01/10 Cold Steel Outage.

Scheduled Downtime
Date

Began Work Performed

07/12/10 Cleaning outage.
07/26/10 Cleaning outage.
08/16/10 Cleaning outage.

SOUTH MEADOWS JETS
October 2010 Monthly Operational Summary

Date Comment

09/02/10
09/04/10 Summer capacity run.

5 of 5



 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 7 



 



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Mid-Connecticut MSW

733,030 748,232 2% 262,114 246,986 (6%) 63,404 60,434 (5%)

    Contract Spot 29,785 29,099 (2%) 7,481 15,000 101% 2,002 3,723 86%

    In-State Spot 47,943 18,995 (60%) 2,677 4,469 67% 313 484 54%

    Out-of-State Spot 4,519 10 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

    MSW TOTAL 815,278 796,336 (2%) 272,272 266,456 (2%) 65,720 64,641 (2%)

Mid-Connecticut Recyclables

80,953 83,856 4% 27,142 29,368 8% 6,830 7,424 9%

    In-State Spot 1 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

    Out-of-State Spot 1,942 0 >100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

82,897 83,856 1% 27,142 29,368 8% 6,830 7,424 9%

CONNECTICUT RESOURCES RECOVERY AUTHORITY

October 2010 Monthly Customer MSW and Recyclables Deliveries
This report provides information on deliveries of materials for the CRRA Mid-Connecticut Project for the
period ending October 31, 2010.

Monthly Customer Delivery Report

Project/Contract
FiTcal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

Mid-Connecticut Project

    Member Towns

    Member Towns

    RECYC. TOTAL

1 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Avon 10,700 10,371 (3%) 3,594 3,512 (2%) 916 893 (3%)

Beacon Falls 2,743 2,703 (1%) 911 996 9% 240 282 17%

Bethlehem 1,746 1,725 (1%) 587 574 (2%) 136 151 11%

Bloomfield 9,137 16,011 75% 5,349 4,813 (10%) 1,282 1,147 (11%)

Bolton 1,819 2,057 13% 738 675 (8%) 173 158 (9%)

Canaan 837 444 (47%) 154 158 3% 31 39 26%

Canton 5,505 4,947 (10%) 1,726 1,675 (3%) 437 413 (5%)

Chester 1,802 1,343 (25%) 479 448 (6%) 123 79 (35%)

Clinton 8,506 8,802 3% 3,191 2,865 (10%) 748 604 (19%)

Colebrook 700 743 6% 280 252 (10%) 64 56 (12%)

Cornwall 598 514 (14%) 195 183 (6%) 28 37 32%

Coventry 3,841 3,777 (2%) 1,337 1,247 (7%) 316 300 (5%)

Cromwell 9,709 9,256 (5%) 3,366 2,921 (13%) 790 803 2%

Deep River 2,830 3,069 8% 1,039 1,197 15% 256 311 21%

Durham/Middlefield 6,038 5,946 (2%) 2,115 668 (68%) 528 149 (72%)

East Granby 3,297 3,958 20% 1,257 1,164 (7%) 337 257 (24%)

East Hampton 5,492 5,511 0% 1,800 2,143 19% 425 511 20%

East Hartford 29,401 31,724 8% 11,456 9,707 (15%) 2,846 2,375 (17%)

East Windsor 4,081 4,534 11% 1,649 1,492 (10%) 396 384 (3%)

Ellington 5,131 5,326 4% 1,902 1,786 (6%) 424 408 (4%)

Enfield 23,778 27,965 18% 10,317 8,773 (15%) 2,506 2,067 (18%)

Essex 3,655 3,432 (6%) 1,308 1,084 (17%) 347 240 (31%)

Farmington 17,911 17,400 (3%) 6,084 5,817 (4%) 1,521 1,446 (5%)

Glastonbury 19,872 19,510 (2%) 6,605 6,567 (1%) 1,669 1,658 (1%)

Goshen 1,453 1,405 (3%) 551 534 (3%) 118 113 (4%)

Granby 5,319 4,657 (12%) 1,605 1,787 11% 370 440 19%

Guilford 13,268 13,461 1% 4,770 4,796 1% 1,115 1,134 2%

Haddam 3,409 3,283 (4%) 1,114 1,102 (1%) 261 276 6%

Hartford 98,925 98,202 (1%) 34,538 32,661 (5%) 8,486 8,018 (6%)

Harwinton 2,314 2,237 (3%) 845 778 (8%) 207 191 (8%)

Hebron 3,395 3,266 (4%) 1,119 1,145 2% 259 290 12%

Killingworth 2,658 2,625 (1%) 914 887 (3%) 213 227 7%

Litchfield 5,251 5,414 3% 1,949 1,914 (2%) 482 467 (3%)

Lyme 879 851 (3%) 319 308 (3%) 80 71 (11%)

Madison 9,954 8,746 (12%) 3,291 2,993 (9%) 705 606 (14%)

Manchester 34,733 37,815 9% 12,354 12,276 (1%) 3,116 3,035 (3%)

MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT
October 2010 Monthly Customer MSW Deliveries

Mid-Connecticut Project Member and Contract Towns MSW

Town
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

2 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Marlborough 3,101 2,885 (7%) 991 921 (7%) 238 218 (8%)

Middlebury 3,121 2,403 (23%) 887 869 (2%) 199 208 5%

Naugatuck 17,214 15,902 (8%) 5,551 5,110 (8%) 1,336 1,269 (5%)

Newington 22,828 22,409 (2%) 7,911 7,096 (10%) 1,942 1,697 (13%)

Norfolk 1,104 798 (28%) 305 293 (4%) 61 67 9%

North Branford 8,197 7,757 (5%) 2,772 2,606 (6%) 661 639 (3%)

North Canaan 2,595 2,735 5% 996 885 (11%) 242 225 (7%)

Old Lyme 4,178 4,178 (0%) 1,708 1,584 (7%) 330 316 (4%)

Old Saybrook 10,933 10,824 (1%) 3,927 3,791 (3%) 927 872 (6%)

Oxford 4,335 4,895 13% 1,579 1,828 16% 357 449 26%

Portland 4,180 3,970 (5%) 1,428 1,311 (8%) 366 318 (13%)

Rocky Hill 11,405 11,071 (3%) 3,781 3,569 (6%) 968 896 (8%)

Roxbury 814 769 (6%) 279 258 (7%) 65 58 (11%)

RRDD#1 13,291 12,801 (4%) 4,564 4,389 (4%) 1,053 1,110 5%

Salisbury/Sharon 3,564 3,309 (7%) 1,250 1,218 (3%) 278 289 4%

Simsbury 15,331 15,330 (0%) 5,215 4,915 (6%) 1,312 1,228 (6%)

South Windsor 13,875 15,620 13% 5,586 5,312 (5%) 1,303 1,322 1%

Southbury 9,419 10,122 7% 3,333 3,622 9% 795 882 11%

Suffield 5,411 6,354 17% 2,244 2,216 (1%) 556 530 (5%)

Thomaston 4,724 4,284 (9%) 1,446 1,430 (1%) 342 331 (3%)

Tolland 5,970 6,089 2% 2,133 2,086 (2%) 519 516 (1%)

Torrington 27,639 26,128 (5%) 9,187 8,652 (6%) 2,236 2,164 (3%)

Vernon 14,009 15,194 8% 5,679 4,922 (13%) 1,404 1,222 (13%)

Waterbury 77,156 80,860 5% 27,465 27,541 0% 6,489 6,816 5%

Watertown 14,940 13,539 (9%) 4,838 4,482 (7%) 1,073 1,134 6%

West Hartford 38,544 38,032 (1%) 13,346 12,349 (7%) 3,263 3,118 (4%)

Westbrook 4,703 4,801 2% 1,876 1,601 (15%) 454 345 (24%)

Wethersfield 17,172 17,841 4% 6,289 5,500 (13%) 1,540 1,316 (15%)

Windsor Locks 7,277 9,193 26% 2,964 3,062 3% 722 837 16%

Woodbury 5,311 5,110 (4%) 1,778 1,671 (6%) 423 407 (4%)

733,030 748,232 2% 262,114 246,986 (6%) 63,404 60,434 (5%)

Mid-Connecticut Project Member & Contract Towns MSW (Continued)

Town
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

TOTAL MEMBER & 
CONTRACT TOWN

3 of 10



-  -  -  

-  -  -  

-  -  -  

29,785 29,099 (2%) 7,481 15,000 101% 2,002 3,723 86%

Ansonia 2,447 0 -100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Ashford 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Berlin 177 67 (62%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Bethel 0 0 -  0 12 -  0 0 -  

Bristol 420 362 (14%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Cheshire 175 84 (52%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Colchester 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Danbury 0 0 -  0 150 -  0 0 -  

Derby 362 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

East Haddam 86 46 (47%) 26 0 (100%) 7 0 (100%)

Hamden 121 19 (84%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Hartford L/F 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Lebanon 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Meriden 848 915 8% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Middletown 15,564 7,456 (52%) 2,515 2,807 12% 273 484 77%

Morris 94 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Murphy Road Recyclin 0 3,776 -  0 667 -  0 0 -  

New Britain 1,710 198 (88%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

New Haven 19,160 313 (98%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Promfret 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Reliable Recycling 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Ridgefield 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Seymour 335 0 (100%) 0 31 -  0 0 -  

Southington 94 173 84% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Stafford 646 203 (69%) 136 20 (85%) 34 0 (100%)

Stamford 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Stratford Baling  TS, S 0 0 -  0 229 -  0 0 -  

UConn/Storrs 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Waste Conversion / M 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Willington 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Windsor 1,095 68 (94%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Woodstock 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

47,943 18,995 (60%) 2,677 4,469 67% 313 484 54%

Mid-Connecticut Project Contract Spot MSW

TOTAL CONTRACT 
SPOT

Mid-Connecticut Project In-State Spot MSW

TOTAL IN-STATE 
SPOT

4 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Massachusetts 4,499 10 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

New York 20 0 -100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Vermont 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

4,519 10 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

733,030 748,232 2% 262,114 246,986 (6%) 63,404 60,434 (5%)

Contract Spot 29,785 29,099 (2%) 7,481 15,000 101% 2,002 3,723 86% 

In-State Spot 47,943 18,995 (60%) 2,677 4,469 67% 313 484 54% 

Out-of-State Spot 4,519 10 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

TOTAL TONNAGE 815,278 796,336 (2%) 272,272 266,456 (2%) 65,720 64,641 (2%)

2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

TS Diversions 14,039 4,962 (65%) 183 1,645 801% 0 0 -  

TS Exports 2,999 11,253 275% 8,934 982 (89%) 820 0 (100%)

WPF Diversions 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

WPF Exports 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  
TOTAL TONNAGE 17,038 16,215 (5%) 9,116 2,627 (71%) 820 0 (100%)

State
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

TOTAL OUT-OF- 
STATE SPOT

Mid-Connecticut Project Total MSW Deliveries

Source
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

Member & Contract 
Towns

Mid-Connecticut Project MSW Diversions And Exports

Type
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

5 of 10



Mid-Connecticut Project MSW Trends

45,000

50,000

55,000

60,000

65,000

70,000

75,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut Project Monthly Member MSW Tonnage FY09 FY10

Budget FY11

(9.1%)
(7.0%)

(6.1%)

(6.6%)

(11.2%)

(6.6%)

(6.1%)

(5.8%)

(16.0%)

(14.0%)

(12.0%)

(10.0%)

(8.0%)

(6.0%)

(4.0%)

(2.0%)

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut Project Cumulative Member MSW Tonnage -
Deviation from Budget and FY 10

Dev. Budget

Dev. FY10

6 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Avon 2,123 2,309 9% 779 766 (2%) 219 186 (15%)

Beacon Falls 320 299 (7%) 103 100 (3%) 24 31 31%

Bloomfield 1,366 1,385 1% 415 559 35% 111 134 20%

Bolton 488 507 4% 156 199 27% 34 50 46%

Canaan 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Canton 940 881 (6%) 286 319 11% 68 80 18%

Chester 301 325 8% 119 102 (14%) 26 21 (19%)

Clinton 749 794 6% 287 278 (3%) 70 64 (8%)

Colebrook 158 152 (4%) 54 49 (9%) 14 15 9%

Cornwall 178 159 (11%) 55 60 8% 3 15 328%
Cromwell 1,321 1,049 (21%) 383 334 (13%) 104 87 (16%)

Deep River 282 281 (0%) 80 119 48% 25 31 25%

Durham/Middlefield 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

East Granby 251 475 89% 150 141 (6%) 35 29 (18%)

East Hampton 1,024 1,102 8% 360 353 (2%) 88 88 (0%)

East Hartford 1,993 1,936 (3%) 643 1,026 60% 164 278 69%

East Windsor 728 876 20% 252 293 16% 70 75 8%

Ellington 1,241 1,452 17% 493 487 (1%) 136 124 (9%)

Enfield 3,017 2,995 (1%) 953 1,030 8% 242 281 16%

Essex 665 767 15% 258 221 (15%) 70 49 (30%)

Farmington 2,221 2,314 4% 777 689 (11%) 196 181 (8%)

Glastonbury 4,342 3,699 (15%) 1,173 1,175 0% 310 298 (4%)

Goshen 277 293 6% 102 103 1% 23 22 (2%)

Granby 1,171 1,503 28% 463 495 7% 110 124 12%

Guilford 1,442 1,646 14% 516 506 (2%) 136 127 (6%)

Haddam 493 492 (0%) 151 155 3% 37 39 6%

Hartford 3,583 4,282 20% 1,019 1,560 53% 258 374 45%

Harwinton 452 478 6% 143 180 26% 37 48 29%

Killingworth 593 631 6% 194 188 (3%) 46 45 (4%)

Litchfield 661 659 (0%) 218 224 3% 55 53 (4%)

Lyme 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Madison 1,656 1,421 (14%) 514 423 (18%) 135 96 (29%)

Manchester 3,792 5,006 32% 1,645 1,693 3% 407 431 6%

Marlborough 500 529 6% 171 168 (2%) 36 41 14%

Middlebury 871 838 (4%) 272 282 4% 69 75 9%

MID-CONNECTICUT PROJECT
October 2010 Monthly Customer Recyclables Deliveries

Mid-Connecticut Project Member and Contract Towns Recyclables

Town
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

7 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

Naugatuck 1,535 1,477 (4%) 472 456 (3%) 115 113 (2%)

Newington 2,207 2,182 (1%) 719 892 24% 179 236 32%

North Branford 830 879 6% 304 272 (11%) 71 63 (12%)

North Canaan 231 241 4% 90 82 (9%) 24 22 (11%)

Old Lyme 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Old Saybrook 1,169 1,015 (13%) 338 443 31% 79 104 32%

Oxford 735 776 6% 232 263 13% 53 63 17%

Portland 824 556 (33%) 185 196 6% 51 55 8%

Rocky Hill 1,390 1,421 2% 452 464 3% 115 128 12%

Roxbury 220 199 (10%) 65 73 13% 17 18 2%

RRDD#1 1,931 1,927 (0%) 673 665 (1%) 160 171 7%

Salisbury/Sharon 1,025 969 (5%) 338 361 7% 79 87 11%

Simsbury 2,686 2,527 (6%) 831 957 15% 217 244 12%

South Windsor 2,341 2,725 16% 898 903 1% 226 220 (3%)

Suffield 1,085 1,396 29% 443 453 2% 107 111 4%

Thomaston 422 465 10% 146 160 9% 38 37 (3%)

Tolland 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

Torrington 1,987 2,958 49% 1,013 991 (2%) 251 252 0%

Vernon 2,041 1,926 (6%) 608 794 31% 152 210 38%

Waterbury 3,180 2,961 (7%) 985 980 (0%) 235 260 11%

Watertown 1,279 1,238 (3%) 416 420 1% 97 100 3%

West Hartford 6,092 6,003 (1%) 1,920 2,276 19% 502 579 15%

Westbrook 373 414 11% 144 126 (13%) 37 27 (26%)

Wethersfield 2,120 2,074 (2%) 683 871 27% 179 227 27%

Windsor Locks 922 1,095 19% 376 372 (1%) 100 93 (7%)

Woodbury 744 757 2% 248 251 1% 60 56 (7%)

80,953 83,856 4% 27,142 29,368 8% 6,830 7,424 9%

Mid-Connecticut Project Member & Contract Towns Recyclables (Continued)

Town
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

TOTAL MEMBER & 
CONTRACT TOWN

8 of 10



2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

New Haven 1 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

1 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Haverhill WPF 0 0 0% 0 0 0% 0 0 0%

Massachusetts 1,942 0 >100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Vermont 0 0 -  0 0 -  0 0 -  

1,942 0 >100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  

2009 2010 Growth 2010 2011 Growth Oct 09 Oct 10 Growth

80,953 83,856 4% 27,142 29,368 8% 6,830 7,424 9% 

In-State Spot 1 0 (100%) 0 0 -  0 0 -  

Out-of-State Spot 1,942 0 >100% 0 0 -  0 0 -  
TOTAL TONNAGE 82,897 83,856 1% 27,142 29,368 8% 6,830 7,424 9%

Mid-Connecticut Project In-State Spot Recyclables

State
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

TOTAL IN-STATE 
SPOT

State Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

TOTAL OUT-OF- 
STATE SPOT

Mid-Connecticut Project Total Recyclables Deliveries

Source
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year-To-Date Monthly

Member & Contract 
Towns

9 of 10



Mid-Connecticut Project Recyclables Trends

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut Project Monthly Recyclables Tonnage FY09 FY10

Budget FY11

5.3% 

9.8% 11.6% 
10.3% 

(0.8%)

7.0% 

8.0% 8.2% 

(6.0%)

(4.0%)

(2.0%)

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Mid-Connecticut Project Cumulative Recyclables Tonnage -
Deviation from Budget and FY 09

Dev. Budget

Dev. FY10

10 of 10



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 8 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
     
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Group Totals:       1,498 
October 2010 Total:   2,058 
October 2009 Total:   1,742 
Monthly Increase:             +  316 
YTD Increase:            +  505 

 
Museum Special Events and Participation: 

• Planning and scheduling dates for Institute of Museum and Library Services (IMLS) grant teacher 
workshop. 

• Developing on-line educational tools (Recycl-o-meter and recycling sorting game). 
• Integrating energy conservation component into programs (Energy Efficiency Fund grant). 
• Collaborating with University of Hartford Visual Design class to develop new exhibit designs and loan 

kit(s). 
• Added new signage. 
• Ordering new products with Trash Museum logo to enhance gift shop sales. 
• Utilizing Trash Museum Facebook page  to market programs and to increase  fan participation. 
• October 4 – Project to Increase Mastery of Math and Sciences (PIMMS) Teacher Workshop – 25 

participants 
• October 5 – University of Hartford Design class initial meeting 
• October 12 – New Mexico teacher tours 
• October 14 – Volunteer “Shadow Day” – Big Picture High School – Bloomfield 
• October 17 – Temple Beth Shalom Outreach – 75 participants 
• October 19 – American School for the Deaf internship meeting 
• October 22 – Community Service High School Volunteer Day Rocky Hill High School – 10 volunteers (5 

hours)Trash Museum 
• October 22 – University of Hartford Student reception and recognition 
• October 28, 29 – meetings with University of Hartford Visual Design classes (PG, SM) 
• October 30 – Connecticut Science Teachers Association Conference – Hamden Middle School 
• November 6 – America Recycles Day – Musician Scott Kessel  

Trash Museum Report
October 2010

PK - 2nd, 87, 
4%

3rd - 5th, 
1411, 69%

Adults, 295, 
14%

Outreach, 130,
6%

On-Site, 32, 
2%



Month  School Total Pre-K - 2nd 3rd - 5th 6th - 8th 9th -12th College - Adult Walk-ins Off-Site On-Site Events Grand Total Hartford Schools
January 1,352 795 504 0 53 241 78 108 228 2,007 795
February 1,108 930 158 5 15 326 237 589 50 2,310 680
March 1,596 1,234 341 13 8 468 178 647 216 3,105 300
April 1,764 1300 449 0 15 490 345 661 210 3,470 298
May 1,961 927 1028 0 6 428 98 678 56 3,221 236
June 1,264 516 496 252 0 366 190 573 0 2,393 97
July 874 414 302 158 0 313 750 209 0 2,146 517
August 343 194 116 17 16 136 732 0 0 1,211 77
September 90 4 86 0 0 53 111 338 50 642 0
October 1,498 87 1411 0 0 295 103 130 32 2,058 229
November
December

11,850 6,401 4,891 445 113 3,116 2,822 3,933 842 22,563 3229

Month  School Total Pre-K - 2nd 3rd - 5th 6th - 8th 9th -12th College - Adult Walk-ins Off-Site On-Site Events Grand Total Hartford Schools
January 1,103 713 286 74 30 266 118 135 280 1,902 649
February 1,494 1,027 255 212 0 386 245 275 25 2,425 744
March 1,848 1,634 165 41 8 450 197 524 0 3,019 211
April 1,794 1310 468 16 0 492 447 1,001 0 3,734 229
May 2,046 871 958 170 47 440 115 146 187 2,934 362
June 1,570 398 769 373 30 321 145 47 50 2,133 0
July 1,025 459 302 226 38 385 623 130 0 2,163 330
August 618 378 158 82 0 152 400 248 0 1,418 140
September 301 84 129 0 88 72 68 147 0 588 0
October 1,394 259 802 318 15 255 64 14 15 1,742 528
November 1,354 460 894 0 0 379 85 132 222 2,172 577
December 775 275 437 13 50 163 179 429 0 1,546 208

15,322 7,868 5,623 1,525 306 3,761 2,686 3,228 779 25,776 3978

Month  School Total Pre-K - 2nd 3rd - 5th 6th - 8th 9th -12th College - Adult Walk-ins Off-Site On-Site Events Grand Total Hartford Schools
January 1,408 656 662 55 35 357 83 0 348 2,196 649
February 1,574 894 603 72 5 279 258 2 38 2,151 844
March 1,616 1,358 199 54 5 440 141 428 122 2,747 343
April 1,576 1232 260 76 8 446 235 3,009 51 5,317 679
May 2,147 868 1019 245 15 425 145 88 160 2,965 303
June 1,179 517 662 0 0 418 88 220 0 1,905 105
July 1,067 583 256 192 36 364 330 0 0 1,761 353
August 215 107 26 25 57 118 310 241 0 884 103
September 309 89 220 0 0 108 29 558 0 1004 0
October 1,176 73 801 267 35 195 66 1493 0 2930 83
November 1,235 559 528 89 59 300 44 287 315 2181 874
December 1,075 581 408 70 16 155 31 0 0 1261 569

14,577 7,517 5,644 1,145 271 3,605 1,760 6,326 1,034 27,302 4905

CRRA Trash Museum 2008

CRRA Trash Museum October 2010

CRRA Trash Museum 2009



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 9 



 





























































































































 



 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 10 



 



 

 
 

 
 

 
Mid-Connecticut Project Municipal Advisory Committee 

 
DRAFT 2011 Meeting Schedule 

 
Wednesday, February 16, 8:30 a.m. 

• CRRA Trash Museum, 211 Murphy Road, Hartford 
 
Wednesday, May 18, 8:30 a.m. 

• CRRA Trash Museum, 211 Murphy Road, Hartford 
 
Wednesday, August 17, 8:30 a.m. 

• CRRA Trash Museum, 211 Murphy Road, Hartford 
 
Wednesday, November 30, 8:30 a.m. 

• CRRA Trash Museum, 211 Murphy Road, Hartford 




